PH 4: 03

Court of Appeals No. 71103-2-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FLIGHT SERVICES & SYSTEMS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

AIR SERV CORPORATION,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioners:

LIVENGOOD ALSKOG, PLLC Gregory A. McBroom, WSBA No. 33133 Timothy S. McCredie, WSBA No. 12739 121 Third Avenue PO Box 908 Kirkland, WA 98083-0908 Phone: (425) 822-9281

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Flight Services & Systems, Inc. ("Flight Services") provides airplane cabin cleaning services at Seattle-Tacoma International Airport.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Flight Services respectfully petitions this Court for review of an important legal issue raised in the Court of Appeals' opinion filed on April 6, 2015. A courtesy copy of the opinion is attached as Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Whether Washington recognizes "disgorgement of profits" as an alternative measure of restitution for unjust enrichment. Contrary to the Court of Appeals' opinion (Slip Op. at 4), the seminal case for unjust enrichment, *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008), does not adopt "disgorgement of profits" as a measure of restitution for all cases involving services. In fact, no Washington court has addressed if, when or how such a restitution theory would apply. Courts in some other jurisdictions have found it to be punitive, not compensatory, and, therefore, unavailable as a measure of restitution. *See, e.g., Kleinman v. Merck & Co.*, 417 N.J. Super. 166, 186, 8 A.3d 851 (2009).

B. If "disgorgement of profits" is an alternative theory of restitution, should Washington adopt the legal framework for an innocent recipient of services detailed in the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, §§ 49 & 50 (2011) for when and how restitution should be applied here? The detailed legal analysis and guidance provided

in the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, §§49-52 was published in 2011, after the Court's 2008 decision in *Young* and no Washington courts have evaluated the Restatement on this issue.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Flight Services entered into a three-year airplane cabin cleaning contract with Delta Airlines for domestic and international flights at Seattle-Tacoma International Airport ("Sea-Tac"). Tr. Ex. 51. In May 2011, shortly before the contract commenced, Flight Services learned a separate federal compliance agreement was required for cleaning the international flights. CP 932; Tr. Ex. 65. It immediately started the process for obtaining the compliance agreement, a process originally estimated to take "up to 6-8 weeks." CP 907-08.

In the interim, the federal agency agreed to let Flight Services continue cleaning international flights so long as another company with a compliance agreement provided a supervisor to monitor the trash handling. *Id.* Without negotiating price or consulting with Flight Services, Delta Airlines arranged to have Respondent Air Serv Corporation ("AS") provide a supervisor to monitor the trash handling—a process of the cleaning operation taking about 10 minutes to complete. CP 1581. Flight Services continued to perform all the cleaning operations, which required between 6-14 employees per plane. CP 907-08. It sent crews of trained, supervised cleaners to each international flight without any incidents, infractions, or liabilities. CP 908 & 1688 (76:7-12).

Ten days after providing services, AS began demanding payment. CP 912, 923; Tr. Ex. 64. It demanded \$175 per plane, much more than Flight Services' negotiated \$14.05 hourly rate for out of scope services in its contract with Delta Airlines. Tr. Ex. 51 (p.5). The inflated sum even exceeded the unburdened unit charge *for performing all cleaning operations*.¹ Tr. Ex. 66; Tr. Ex. 51. Flight Services objected to AS' price, but agreed to pay the contractual \$14.05 hourly rate. Tr. Exs. 17 & 57; CP 917; VRP 346-358. In September 2011, Flight Services obtained its own compliance agreement. Tr. Ex. 1; CP 918. This action then ensued.

On summary judgment, the pre-trial judge dismissed AS' claims of breach of contract, account stated, and violation of the Consumer Protection Act and held that AS could seek restitution on its claims of quantum meruit and unjust enrichment. CP 1581-84. The unchallenged findings show that AS' services were arranged by Delta Airlines; that "the parties disputed the price of the services over several months"; and that "[t]here was never a meeting of the minds as to price...." CP 1581-82.

AS elected not to present any evidence of fair market value at trial. Resp't Br. at 32 (AS acknowledging that it failed to "provide any rate beyond the figure it was willing to accept for payment" and that "no market was ever identified [at trial].)" Resp't Br. at 32. Instead, AS argued that it was entitled to "the higher of" either its \$175 per plane offer or all

¹ The unburdened unit charge is the contracted payment for all cleaning services less management fees, equipment charges, and start-up expenses. Tr. Ex. 51 (pp. 2-5).

Flight Services' "gross revenues" for the international flights. VRP 374-77. AS argued that Flight Services' profits were equivalent to its gross revenues—between \$132,241.90 and \$159,345.59 (the entire contracted per airplane charge for cleaning plus either 65% of the management fees, equipment costs and start-up expenses or 100% of those expenses).² *Id.* AS further argued that although it knew Flight Services incurred significant costs for providing the cleaning services, no reduction for costs need to be made to determine profits because Flight Services did not maintain cost data for cleaning Delta international flights.³ *Id.*

The trial court⁴ did not adopt AS' inflated disgorgement of profits restitution theory. In the preamble to its findings and conclusions, the trial court stated that the only issue for trial was the determination of the reasonable value of AS's services. CP 2180-81. But, the trial court then applied a wholly different measure of relief. CP 2182-84. It awarded \$83,300 (\$175 per plane) based upon AS's invoices, draft contracts, and party representations, grounds previously rejected and dismissed by the pre-trial judge on partial summary judgment. CP 1581-82.

The Court of Appeals found that the trial court's findings were inadequate to review the determination of reasonable market value and

² AS took this position even though management fees, equipment costs, and start-up expenses were only incurred by Flight Services.

³ AS took over the Delta aircraft cabin cleaning contract at Sea-Tac in November 2011 (after it was rebid) and had the ability to estimate costs. Tr. Ex. 61. The primary reason AS offered to assist Delta was because it wanted this lucrative contract.

⁴ The case was reassigned to a new Superior Court Judge just before trial.

remanded for further findings. Slip Op. at 3. But it then went on to misread *Young* as directly recognizing "disgorgement of profits" as an alternative measure of restitution for all cases involving services. Slip. Op. at 4. In addition, even if such a punitive theory was recognized in Washington, the Court of Appeals only generally identified the restitution theory without providing any legal framework for when and how such a restitution theory should be applied by Washington courts. *Id*.

V. AUTHORITY

A. Court of Appeals adopts a "disgorgement of profits" restitution alternative never before recognized in any unjust enrichment/quantum meruit case in Washington.

The Court's opinion includes a number of conclusions about the

law of unjust enrichment and quantum meruit.⁵ Significantly, the Court of

Appeals enunciated the following principle of law:

The measure of recovery for unjust enrichment to a faultless claimant is either (1) "the amount which the benefit conferred would have cost the defendant had it obtained the benefit from some other person in plaintiff's position," or (2) "the extent to which the other party's property has been increased in value or his other interests advanced." When services have been provided, the first measure is typically represented by the market value of the services rendered, while the second measure involves disgorgement of the profit the defendant received as a result of the services rendered.

Slip Op. at 4 (footnotes omitted; quotes in original, italics added).

Citing without analyzing Young, the Court of Appeals assumed

⁵ Cf. Bank of America, N.A. v. Owens, 177 Wn. App. 181, 189-90, 311 P.3d 594 (2013) (trial court cannot ignore appellate court's specific holdings and directions on

incorrectly the following two critical premises: (1) that market rate applies only to the first measure of restitution, *i.e.*, the cost to obtain similar services from another provider, but not to the second measure (increase in property value or other interests), and (2) that "disgorgement of profit" is permitted under the second measure of recovery for the increase in property value or other interests. Throughout its opinion, the Court of Appeals appears to assume that disgorgement of profits is a valid measure of restitution, and the only issue is how to calculate the precise amount of profits to which Flight Services benefitted from AS' services. See Slip Op. at 6-10. Discussing revenue figures of between \$77,730.50-\$400,000 as potentially "within the range under a disgorgement theory," Slip Op. at 7-8, the Court of Appeals left it up to the trial court to make "precise findings" on whichever measure it found appropriate "whether under a market value, modified disgorgement of profit, or some other 'rare circumstances' measure of the value of services...." Id. at 10.

Because the Court of Appeals' unprecedented and erroneous general adoption of "disgorgement of profits" as an alternative measure of restitution will have far reaching consequences in this case and all other unjust enrichment cases involving services, Flight Services requests review to correct this error of law. Secondly, because the case is being remanded to the same trial court who the Court of Appeals found

remand, including those enunciating a principle of law, which must be followed in later stages of the same litigation).

demonstrated difficulty drawing distinctions, following the law, and applying correct legal remedies, review would be appropriate to send the case down with clear instructions on how restitution should be applied.

B. Petition Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Bringing a disgorgement of profits theory of restitution into every unjust enrichment/quantum meruit case affects every commercial transaction where the parties fail to form an enforceable express contract. The consequences will be enormous: as AS did in this case, no claimant will bother proving fair market value of services if they automatically have a right to claim the recipient's revenues and profits, which in many cases will far exceed the market value of those services.

The Court of Appeals all but invites AS to pursue a disgorgement of profits restitution theory that has no validity under Washington law or in the majority of other jurisdictions. A disgorgement theory provides yet another opportunity for AS to demand an inflated award grossly out of proportion to the small amount of services rendered. Instead of arguing over a *market value* recovery between \$3511 (\$14.05 per hour) and \$11,900 (\$25 per hour), AS can argue over Flight Services' *revenues and profits* in the range of \$77,730 – \$400,000.

C. Court of Appeals' Opinion is In Conflict With a Decision of Washington's Supreme Court—the *Young* case.

According to the Washington Supreme Court in *Young*, unjust enrichment "is measured in one of two ways": (1) "the amount which the benefit conferred would have cost the defendant had it obtained the benefit from some other person in the plaintiff's position," or (2) "the extent to which the other party's property has been increased in value or his other interests advanced." *Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 487. Both measures—cost and increased value—involve "the market value of the services rendered." *Id.* The "reasonable value" of AS services depends on what Flight Services would have had to pay another provider of similar services. *See Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 490. In *Young*, the claimant produced expert testimony to show market value. *Id.* at 482. Noting the appeals court had "remanded for an award based on the full amount it would have cost [the recipient] to pay a third-party to make the improvements," namely, the first measure of recovery, the Supreme Court affirmed this ruling. *Id.* at 482-483, 491.

The proper measure is not, and never has been, "disgorgement of profits," a separate theory of damages not even mentioned in *Young* and not found in any Washington cases involving unjust enrichment for an implied contract. Disgorgement is not *of profits*, but "the value of the received benefit." *Young*, at 489; *id.* at 490 ("Phrased alternatively, [the recipient] must *disgorge the entire value of the benefit she received* as determined by either the fair market value of the services rendered or the amount the improvements enhanced the value of the property.").⁶ The "increased value" measure is limited to the value directly and proximately

⁶ Cf. Restatements of the Law 3d, Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, § 49(4) (2011) ("When restitution is intended to strip the defendant of a wrongful gain, the standard of liability is not the value of the benefit conferred but the amount of the profit wrongfully obtained." [italics added]). The current Restatement is referred to herein as "Rest.3d."

"attributable" to the services rendered by the claimant, not profits. *See Young*, at 482; *cf. Irwin Concrete, Inc. v. Sun Coast Properties, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 190, 653 P.2d 1331 (1982) (contractors whose work to complete water system enhanced value of land being developed for a shopping center acquired by lender at foreclosure awarded unjust enrichment benefit measured by contract prices rather than lender's profits).

In *Young*, the Washington Supreme Court looked to Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 371 (1981) for guidance on the proper measure of recovery. *Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 487-488. The two measures of recovery—cost to the recipient or increased value—come from § 371:

§ 371 Measure of Restitution Interest

If a sum of money is awarded to protect a party's restitution interest, it may as justice requires be measured by either

(a) the reasonable value to the other party of what he received in terms of what it would have cost him to obtain it from a person in the claimant's position, or

(b) the extent to which the other party's property has been increased in value or his other interests advanced.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 371(b) (1981). § 371(a) and (b) are alternative measures. *Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 487. But § 371(b) is not a license for courts to award a plaintiff a percentage of profits as "the extent to which the other party's ... other interests advanced." *See Young*, 164 Wn.2d at 490, *quoting* Restatement of Restitution § 155, cmt. d (1937) (for "services or improvements" value does not depend on "pecuniary advantage, **and normally he would be required to pay the market price of such services**..." [bold added]); § 371 cmt. b (Illustration 2 - primacy of market price over "increased value"). There is nothing extraordinary in this case that requires departure from the "normal."

Because the Court of Appeals and trial court are confused about the measure of recovery for unjust enrichment and/or quantum meruit, this Court should accept review to provide clarity.

If the law were clear as to when the reasonable value of plaintiff's services is the appropriate remedy and when the value to the defendant is the appropriate remedy, then settlements might be more likely. Eliminating some excess litigation would save resources both of the parties and the judicial system.

Candace Saari Kovacic-Fleischer, Quantum Meruit and the Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, 27 Rev. Litig. 127, 132 (2007).

D. Court of Appeals' Opinion Conflicts with other Washington cases where Disgorgement of Profits is awarded.

This case is unlike any Washington cases where disgorgement of profits has been allowed. *See J & J Celcom v. AT & T Wireless Services Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 102, 113, 169 P.3d 823 (2007) (duty of loyalty required partner to disgorge profits obtained from transaction connected with the partnership without consent of the other partners); *Golberg v. Sanglier*, 96 Wn.2d 874, 887-88, 639 P.2d 1347 (1982) (to deter fraudulent conduct in sale of partnership interest to remaining partners induced by fraud, breach of partnership agreement, and breach of fiduciary duty); *In re Washington Builders Benefit Trust*, 173 Wn. App. 34, 82, 293 P.3d 1206 (2013) (trustees who retained interest earned on deposited funds, commingled funds, and failed to account must disgorge interest wrongfully retained

since no trustee can profit from breach of fiduciary duty); *Staff Builders Home Healthcare, Inc. v. Whitlock*, 108 Wn. App. 928, 33 P.3d 424 (2001) (awarding lost profits for damages and recoupment of unjust enrichment where former employee breached noncompetition agreement and violated Uniform Trade Secrets Act by providing services to client of former employer).⁷

As competitors participating in an arm's length business transaction arranged by Delta Airlines, Flight Services and AS did not have a confidential or fiduciary relationship. *See Annechino v. Worthy*, 162 Wn. App. 138, 143, 252 P.3d 415 (2011), *aff'd*, 175 Wn.2d 630, 636, 290 P.3d 126 (2012).⁸ AS has no legally protected interest in Flight Services' revenues or profits under its cleaning contract with Delta Airlines. *See* Rest.3d § 2 cmt. b ("To be the subject of a claim in restitution, the benefit conferred must be something in which the claimant

⁷ AS cited two Washington cases to support its disgorgement of profits theory neither case does. *See Wright v. Dave Johnson Ins., Inc.*, 167 Wn. App. 758, 275 P.3d 339 (2012) (enforcing intent of parties under express oral agreement, court affirmed order requiring return of life insurance policies to rightful owner under constructive trust theory to avoid unjust enrichment); Olwell v. Nye & Nissen Co., 26 Wn.2d 282, 285, 173 P.2d 652 (1947) (owner of egg-washing machine awarded "reasonable value of defendant's use of the machine," measured by "saving in labor cost" (\$25 per month for 36 months) to user who converted machine for own business use, <u>not</u> the tortfeasor's revenues or profits from the sale of eggs washed by the owner's machine).

⁸ See Rambus Inc. v. Infineon Technologies AG, 318 F.3d 1081, 1096 n. 7 (Fed. Cir. 2003) ("a fiduciary relationship seems unlikely[...]Rambus and Infineon are competitors"); Taylor Woodrow Homes Florida, Inc. v. 4/46-A Corp., 850 So.2d 536, 541 (Fla.App. 2003) ("the facts of the instant case dispels the notion that a fiduciary relationship existed between Taylor and Heathrow. Taylor and Heathrow were competitors..."); Security Title Guarantee Corp. of Baltimore v. United General Title Ins. Co., 935 F.Supp. 816, 818 (E.D.La. 1996) ("United General does not allege the existence of any confidential or fiduciary relationship among the parties. On the contrary, these three companies were competitors.").

has a legally protected interest, and it must be acquired or retained in a manner that the law regards as unjustified."). "[T]he received benefit [must be] at the plaintiff's expense." Young, 164 Wn.2d at 484-485 (italics added). By requiring the received benefits be "at the plaintiff's expense," the intention of the law is to restore to the claimant that which it has lost,⁹ *i.e.*, the value of the services provided that saved the recipient from having to pay a third party to provide, or, viewed another way, the value of the services the claimant could have sold on the open market to a buyer of such services. The claimant has no claim to, or interest in, the recipient's profits. "Unjust enrichment of a person occurs when he has and retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another." Bailie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems, Inc., 61 Wn. App. 151, 159-160, 810 P.2d 12 (1991) (italics added); see also Young, 164 Wn.2d at 484, quoting this language from Bailie).

Flight Services' profits do not "belong to" AS. Those profits belong solely to Flight Services, resulting from its own preexisting airplane cleaning contract with Delta Airlines. AS never asked nor expected to be compensated on a percentage of profits basis arising from the Delta-Flight Services cleaning contract. Retaining the revenues of its

⁹ The remedial goal of restitution is to "restor[e] something to someone, or restor[e] someone to a previous position. It may do the former by restoring the very property that the claimant gave up, or by granting substitute property rights. It may restore someone to a previous position by restoring property, or a substitute, or a money equivalent." Rest.3d § 1 cmt. e (1); see also Olwell, 26 Wn.2d at 286, quoting Restatement of the Law, *Restitution* (1937).

labor under a preexisting contract procured solely by Flight Services, when it was Delta that retained AS, cannot be considered unjustified enrichment. Flight Services took nothing from AS that prevented AS from obtaining its own revenues and profits under its cleaning contracts with other airlines, or with other vendors.

E. Disgorgement of Profits is Not Supported by the Current Restatement or Commentators.

"Unjust enrichment from requested benefits is measured by their reasonable value to the recipient." Rest.3d § 50(2)(b) ("Reasonable value is normally the lesser of market value and a price the recipient has expressed a willingness to pay.").

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