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

RAP 13.4(b). As the Court of Appeals opinion is in line with well-

established Washington law, none of these circumstances exist and FSS's 

petition should be denied. 

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS FOLLOWED WASHINGTON LAW 

Washington law has long allowed for the disgorgement of any 

benefit, including profit, received by a defendant that is found liable for 

unjust enrichment. See Body Recovery Clinic LLC v. Concentra, Inc., No. 

C13-1363RAJ, 2014 WL 651981 *3 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 19, 2014) 

(explaining that disgorgement of profit is a proper remedy for unjust 

enrichment); National Products, Inc. v. Aqua Box Products, No. C12-

0605-RSM, 2013 WL 1399346 *3 (W.D. Wash. April 5, 2013) ("a court 
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may award damages based on defendant's profits on an unjust enrichment 

theory"); Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 487-89, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008) 

(allowing for remedy beyond fair market value for services as determined 

by increase in value to the land - i.e., the profit); Foundation for the 

Handicapped v. Department of Soc. and Health Servs., 97 Wn.2d 691, 

699, 648 P.2d 884 (1982) ("The doctrine of unjust enrichment is that one 

shall not be allowed to profit or enrich himself at the expense of another 

contrary to equity"); Otwell v. Nye & Nissen Co., 26 Wn.2d 282, 287, 173 

P.2d 652 (1947) (providing disgorgement of additional profit made by 

defendant due to use of plaintiff's machine). Contrary to FSS's assertion, 

the Court of Appeals in this matter was by no means the first court to 

allow disgorgement of profits under Washington law. 8 

8 Moreover, contrary to FSS bald assertion that "a disgorgement of profits restitution 
theory[] has no validity ... in the majority of other jurisdictions," see Petition at 7, such a 
remedy is commonly recognized by courts throughout the country, see, e.g., lnfoGroup, 
Inc. v. Database LLC, No. 8:14-CV-49, 2015 WL 1499066 *20 (D. Neb. March 30, 
20 15) ("But there may also be cases in which the remedy for unjust enrichment gives the 
plaintiff something, such as the defendant's wrongful gain, that the plaintiff did not 
previously possess"); Stavropoulos v. Hewlett-Packard Co., No. 13 C 5084, 2014 WL 
7190809 *5 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 17, 2014) ("disgorgement of profits is an appropriate remedy 
for an unjust enrichment claim"); Meister v. Mensinger, 230 Cal.App.4th 381, 398 (2014) 
(explaining that disgorgement of a defendant's profits can sometimes be essential as a 
remedy for unjust enrichment); SRS Arlington Offices, LLC v. Arlington Condominium 
Owners Ass'n, 760 S.E.2d 330, 332 (N.C. App. 2014) ("A claim for unjust enrichment[] 
is a claim for restitution which seeks to force a party to disgorge its ill-gotten profits"); 
Keurig, Inc. v. Sturm Foods, Inc., No. 10-841-SLR-MPT, 2013 WL 633574 *1 (D. Del. 
Feb. 19, 2013) (explaining disgorgement of defendant's profits is a remedy for unjust 
enrichment); Mcintosh v. Gilley, 753 F.Supp.2d 46, 63 (D.D.C. 2010) ("Disgorgement of 
profits is a well-recognized remedy for unjust enrichment"). Additionally, FSS's reliance 
on Kleinman v. Merck & Co., 417 N.J. Super. 166, 186, 8 A.3d 851 (2009) is misplaced. 
See Petition at 1 & 16. In Kleinman, in ruling on whether a class should be certified, the 
trial court held that unjust enrichment was not an available cause of action in that case. 
/d. at 166 (Holding 4). The loose language of the trial court which FSS relies upon, to 
claim that disgorgement of profits is punitive, is contrary to the law in New Jersey. The 
New Jersey Supreme Court has explained that disgorgement of a defendant's profits is an 
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The Court of Appeals specifically followed this Court's analysis in 

Young. FSS's claims that the law does not allow for disgorgement of the 

benefit conferred on the party that was unjustly enriched, see, e.g., Petition 

at 6, and that the trial court should only be allowed to consider the "market 

price" for services, id. at 9, are contrary to this Court's decision in Young. 

In Young, the Court explained that a trial court has the option of 

fashioning an unjust enrichment remedy in two distinctly different ways. 

Washington law states the measure of recovery for unjust 
enrichment to a faultless claimant for the claimant's 
improvement to land is measured in one of two ways. It 
may be measured by the amount which the benefit 
conferred would have cost the defendant had it obtained the 
benefit from some other person in the plaintiffs position. 
Alternatively, it may be measured by the extent to 
which the other party's property has been increased in 
value or his other interests advanced. 

164 Wn.2d at 487. Like FSS now, in Young the "[defendant's] argument 

[completely] overlook[ed] the focus of [the second way to fashion] an 

unjust enrichment calculation. The obligation to repay the debt or 

disgorge the value of the received benefit focuses on the receiver of the 

benefit, not on the provider of the benefit." /d. at 489 (emphasis added). 

FSS's premise that the "received benefit" to be disgorged must be 

limited by a "fair market rate" is not supported by any authority. See, e.g., 

appropriate remedy for unjust enrichment. See County of Essex, v. First Union Nat'! 
Bank, 186 N.J. 46, 56, 891 A.2d 600 (2006) ("Our case law has long recognized that in 
analogous circumstances, general principles of equity mandate that the wrongdoer be 
relieved of any profits"); see also In re Cheerios Marketing and Sales Practices 
Litigation, No. 09-cv-2413, 2012 WL 3952069 *13 (D. N.J. Sept. 10, 2012) (explaining 
that under New Jersey law "[i]n order to obtain disgorgement of profits, a plaintiff must 
demonstrate that a defendant was unjustly enriched"). 
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Petition at 7-8. To the contrary, FSS has cited authority to the effect that 

courts often choose to require a defendant to pay the market price. See 

Petition at 9. But, there is no limitation on a trial court's election to 

fashion an alternative remedy where justice so requires or when the 

services are unique in nature and without an established market rate. 

Indeed, this Court explained that even when there is a market rate for 

services, the trial court still had "substantial discretion" to award the profit 

(i.e., increase in value of the land) made by the defendant, even though 

that figure could be much greater than the "market value" for the services. 

Here, the value of the first measure is $760,382 while the 
value of the second measure is between $750,000 and 
$1,050,000. Therefore, under Washington law Jim and 
Shannon are entitled to an award between $750,000 and 
$1,050,000. Within this range the trial court, reviewing the 
complex factual matters involved in the case, has 
tremendous discretion to fashion a remedy to do substantial 
justice to the parties and put an end to the litigation. 

!d. at 487-488 (citations and quotations omitted). If the law were m 

accord with FSS's arguments, see Petition at 11-13, this Court would not 

have allowed for any remedy above the "market value" of the services 

(i.e., $760,382), in Young. Instead, the Court explained that the benefit 

conferred on the defendant, measured by the value added to the land, 

could be recovered by plaintiffs. 

In Young, the land which was increased in value did not "belong 

to" plaintiffs. Cf Petition at 12-13. However, as defendant realized an 

unjust gain in the value of the land (i.e., profit) due to plaintiffs' work, the 

Court explained that the gain could be disgorged. Similarly here, although 
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the contract leading to FSS's profits did not "belong to" Air Serv, the 

profits from that contract were realized due to Air Serv's services. 

Without Air Serv's services, FSS would not have been able to perform on 

its contract with Delta because it would not have been able to service the 

international flights. Thus, awarding Air Serv the profits from those 

flights was well within an appropriate remedy.9 

Furthermore, FSS' s argument that disgorgement of profits is not a 

remedy under unjust enrichment is refuted by numerous authorities on 

which it relies. 10 At best, it seems that FSS is arguing that disgorgement 

of profits is not a preferable remedy in this instance. See Petition at 10 

("There is nothing extraordinary in this case that requires departure from 

the 'normal"'). However, this Court has explained that it is within a trial 

court's "tremendous discretion to fashion a remedy to do substantial 

9 This result would not leave FSS worse off than it would have been otherwise. Cf 
Petition at 16. Without Air Serv's services, FSS would not have received these profits 
because it would not have even been able to board the flights on which the services were 
performed. So without Air Serv's services FSS would have been in breach of its 
multimillion dollar contract with Delta, a position which is far worse than having to pay 
the profits for a portion, or even all, of the contract. FSS argues that the calculation of 
profits based solely on its revenues would be unfair. See Petition at 4. However, as FSS 
refused to provide its cost information, the trial court only has the revenue figures to 
analyze in the event it elects to disgorge FSS's profits. FSS refusal, including disregard 
of the trial court's order, to provide cost information is of its own doing. 
10 See, e.g., Petition at 8, n. 6 (Restatement explaining that amount of profit wrongfully 
obtained is appropriate remedy for unjust enrichment); Petition at 9 (citing Staff Builders 
v. Home Healthcare, Inc. v. Whitlock, 108 Wn.App. 928, 930, 33 P.3d 424 (2001) which 
held, "We hold that Staff Builders was entitled to recover their lost profits for damages 
and recoupment of unjust enrichment." (emphasis added)); Petition at 14 (Restatement 
recognizing disgorgement of profits is an appropriate remedy where defendant was a 
conscious wrongdoer); Petition at 15 (citing Certified Fire Prot. v. Precision Constr., 283 
P.3d 250, 257 (Nev. 2012) (court explaining that under unjust enrichment a trial court 
"may strip a wrongdoer of all profits made in a transaction") (emphasis added)). 
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justice to the parties and put an end to the litigation," Young, 164 Wn.2d at 

488, therefore, FSS's preference for a specific remedy provides no reason 

to grant its petition. 11 The trial court, having a thorough knowledge of the 

specific facts of the dispute, was in the best position to determine which 

measure of recovery should be used for an unjust enrichment claim. See 

id. 

Even if it were Air Serv's burden to prove this was not a "normal" 

case involving services, the evidence presented at trial would meet such a 

burden. The services provided by Air Serv were unique and required 

governmental approval. Throughout the underlying litigation, FSS was 

not able to provide a single concrete example of any company performing 

similar services. See, e.g., Slip Op. at 5. Indeed, the overwhelming 

evidence at trial demonstrated that these services were not readily 

available in any market (or even offered to be provided by any other 

company to FSS). See, e.g., Slip Op. at 5. 

The Court of Appeals decision enunciating the remedies for FSS's 

liability under unjust enrichment provides no basis for this Court to accept 

review of this case. Rather, the Court of Appeals decision is in accord 

with long-established Washington law, including as most recently 

explained by this Court in Young. 

11 There is absolutely no law that requires there to be a confidential or fiduciary 
relationship for disgorgement of profits to be a remedy for unjust enrichment. Cf 
Petition at 10-11. FSS' s citation to cases that have awarded disgorgement of profits 
based on other legal theories has absolutely nothing to do with a proper remedy for unjust 
enrichment. 
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B. FSS DOES NOT RAISE AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST 

Contrary to FSS' s assertion that the "consequences [of the Court of 

Appeals unpublished opinion] will be enormous," Petition at 7, the 

opinion does not alter the law in Washington, nor does it in anyway 

preclude a trial court from using market value for services in fashioning a 

remedy. Indeed, the Court of Appeals explained that the market value of 

services is one way of determining a remedy for unjust enrichment. See 

Slip Op. at 4 (explaining that "[ w ]hen services have been provided, the 

first measure is typically represented by the market value of the services 

rendered"). 

FSS's argument that a market value for services can be an 

appropriate remedy remains unchanged by the Court of Appeals opinion. 

Indeed, using market value as a remedy is reasonable in numerous 

instances where services are provided and there is a marketplace for such 

services. However, in this instance, where no such market was ever 

identified, the trial court should be allowed to disgorge the benefit that 

was conferred on FSS. If this Court were to accept FSS' s 

misinterpretation of the law, any provider of a unique service would never 

be able to collect payment under unjust enrichment because a "market 

value" would be unprovable. Cf Petition at 18-19. Of course, such an 

absurd result is not and should not be the law. The Court of Appeals 

unpublished opinion does not raise any substantial public interest that 

needs to be addressed by this Court. 
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C. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

DOES NOT VIOLATE PUBLIC POLICY 

Although FSS advocates for this Court to expressly adopt 

disgorgement of profits under certain circumstances, see Petition at 14, it 

also argues that allowing such a remedy is punitive or would allow for a 

double recovery, see id. at 16-17. FSS's inconsistent position makes no 

sense. Moreover, FSS's contention that "no Washington court has ever 

adopted disgorgement of profits as a remedy in any unjust enrichment 

case," as discussed supra, is untrue. 12 Disgorgement of profits is the same 

as "the obligation to repay the debt or disgorge[ment] the value of the 

received benefit." Young, 164 Wn.2d at 489. FSS's argument that 

"disgorgement of profits" is unrelated to "disgorgement of the value of the 

received benefit" is nothing more than a semantical game. The profit is 

the value of the benefit received. Courts have long recognized that when a 

party is unjustly enriched, an appropriate remedy is to make sure the 

benefit/profit that was received unjustly is disgorged. There is nothing 

punitive about taking away an undeserved profit from a defendant. 

Indeed, this Court previously has rejected FSS contention, explaining that 

where a claimant is not at fault, it is important to disgorge the entire value 

12 FSS's argument seems to be based on a very specific search it conducted on Westlaw 
using a narrow choice of words. See Petition at 17, n.l4. However, even if accurate, a 
Westlaw search is hardly persuasive authority. For example, more broad searches on 
Westlaw, such as "disgorg! /p profit /p "'unjust enrichment,"' prove that a number of 
Washington courts, both state and federal district courts, have explained disgorgement of 
profits to be an appropriate remedy under Washington law. See supra at 10-11. Notably, 
however, none of these cases hold that disgorgement of profits could ever be possibly be 
considered punitive or to be a double recovery. 
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of the benefit retained by the defendant, regardless of the gain to the 

claimant. 

[Defendant's] theory of recovery is based on preventing a 
supposedly unconscionable gain to the claimant. Yet, her 
theory of recovery permits a defendant to retain some 
benefit. Under circumstances where the claimant is at fault 
and/or the defendant did not consent to the benefit such a 
theory of recovery may be sound. But where the claimant is 
not at fault ... fairness and justice dictate the defendant 
should be held to pay the entire amount as measured by 
how much it would have cost the defendant to purchase the 
improvements or by how much the improvement 
enhanced the value of the property. 

Young, 164 Wn.2d at 490-91. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals analysis 

that the benefit conferred on FSS due to Air Serv's services could be 

determined by the profit that FSS received from such services, is fully 

consistent with Washington law and public policy. 

CONCLUSION 

Without the services Air Serv provided to FSS, FSS would have 

been unable to perform its multi-million dollar contract with Delta. FSS 

was unjustly enriched and greatly profited from Air Serv's services. The 

Court of Appeals did not error in explaining that the benefit FSS unjustly 

received could be measured by the profit FSS received for the services. 

The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with any Washington 

appellate decision. Nor does the Court of Appeal's opinion create an issue 

of substantial public interest. FSS' s Petition should be denied.